
INSPECTION RECORD 
 
 
Region:  III  Inspection Report No. 2018001 License No. 21-26193-01 
  Docket No. 030-31735 
 
Licensee: Oscoda County Road Commission 
  West 300 8th Street 

Mio, MI  48647 
 
Locations Inspected: 1) Same as above 
    2) Job site on Park Road near M-72, Luzerne, MI 
 
Licensee Contact:  Steven Defour, Radiation Safety Officer Telephone No. 989-826-3218 
 
Program Code:  03121 Priority:  5 
 
Type of Inspection: (  ) Initial (X) Routine (  ) Announced 
 (  ) Special  (X) Unannounced 
 
Last Inspection Date:  09/18/13 Date of This Inspection:  11/09/18 
 
Next Inspection Date:  11/09/23 (X) Normal (  ) Reduced 
 
Summary of Findings and Actions: 
 

(  ) No violations cited, clear U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) Form 591 or 
regional letter issued 

(  ) Non-cited violations (NCVs) 
(  ) Violation(s), Form 591 issued 
(X) Violation(s), regional letter issued 
(  ) Follow-up on previous violations 
 
 

Inspector(s) Ryan Craffey, Health Physicist    
 
 /RA/   Date  1/11/2019  

  Signature 
 
Approved Aaron T. McCraw, Chief, MIB   
 
 /RA Michael Kunowski Acting for/                               Date:  1/15/2019  
  Signature
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PART I – LICENSE, INSPECTION, INCIDENT/EVENT AND ENFORCEMENT HISTORY 
 
1. AMENDMENTS AND PROGRAM CHANGES SINCE LAST INSPECTION: 
 

AMENDMENT # DATE SUBJECT 
 

04 06/29/15 New RSO 
 
 The license currently expires on April 30, 2021. 
 
2. INSPECTION AND ENFORCEMENT HISTORY: 
 

The NRC last performed routine inspections of this licensee on September 18, 2013, 
and March 5, 2009.  No violations were identified as a result of either inspection. 

 
3. INCIDENT/EVENT HISTORY: 
 

No open items or events since the last routine inspection. 
 
 
PART II – INSPECTION DOCUMENTATION 
 
1. ORGANIZATION AND SCOPE OF PROGRAM: 
 

Oscoda County Road Commission (OCRC, “the licensee”) was authorized by NRC 
Materials License No. 21-26193-01 to use portable moisture density gauges containing 
radioactive material at its facility in Mio, Michigan, and at temporary job sites in NRC 
jurisdiction.  At the time of the inspection, the licensee had one Troxler 3400 Series 
portable gauge, and two individuals (the radiation safety officer (RSO) and one other) 
authorized to use it. 

 
2. SCOPE OF INSPECTION: 
 

Inspection Procedure(s) Used:  87124 
 

Focus Areas Evaluated:  All 
 

The inspector toured the facility in Mio, Michigan, to evaluate the licensee’s measures 
for materials security, hazard communication, and exposure control.  The inspector 
interviewed the RSO to discuss portable gauge maintenance, emergency response, and 
program oversight.  The inspector also reviewed a selection of records, including 
utilization logs, sealed source leak test results, and documentation of gauge user 
training. 

 
The inspector also visited a temporary job site in nearby Luzerne, Michigan, to interview 
the gauge user, who had brought the gauge with him in anticipation of performing 
compaction testing on a bridge reconstruction project.  The inspector observed 
demonstrations of density testing, and discussed the use and transport of licensed 
material with the gauge user.
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3. INDEPENDENT AND CONFIRMATORY MEASUREMENTS: 
 

Using a Canberra UltraRadiac survey meter last calibrated on April 24, 2018, the 
inspector conducted independent surveys in the vicinity of the gauge on the job site.  
Readings were consistent with those provided in the applicable Sealed Source and 
Device Registry safety evaluation. 

 
The inspector also discussed with the RSO the licensee’s use and maintenance of their 
own survey instrument, a Troxler RadAlert calibrated annually. 

 
4. VIOLATIONS, NCVs, AND OTHER SAFETY ISSUES: 
 

A. Radiation Safety Training for Authorized Users 
 

During a review of training documentation for authorized users, the inspector 
identified that the gauge user had not received radiation safety training in 
accordance with the licensee’s commitments to the NRC. 

 
Condition 11 of NRC Materials License No. 21-26193-01 (Amendment 04) states that 
licensed material shall only be used by, or under the supervision and in the physical 
presence of, individuals who have received the training described in [the] application 
dated October 4, 2010. 

 
Item 8 of the licensee’s renewal application states, in part, that each individual that 
will operate the nuclear gauge will complete the Troxler nuclear gauge training 
course, read and understand our radiation safety procedures; and, be approved by 
our Radiation Safety Officer. 

 
Contrary to these commitments, since being hired by the license in early 2015, the 
gauge user had not completed the Troxler nuclear gauge training course, which is 
known to meet the established criteria in NUREG-1556 Vol. 1, Rev. 2, Appendix C 
for portable gauge user training which the NRC finds acceptable (i.e., 1.5 to 2 hours 
of radiation safety requirements, 1.5 to 2 hours of practical explanation of portable 
gauge theory and operation, and a 25 to 50-question written test).  Instead, in  
May 2015, the gauge user completed a course in Michigan Department of 
Transportation (MDOT) density testing procedures.  This course provided at least  
1.5 to 2 hours of practical explanation of portable gauge theory and operation; 
however, it did not explicitly cover the topic of radiation safety requirements. 

 
However, through observations and discussion at the job site in Luzerne, the 
inspector found that despite lacking the specific training required by Condition 11, the 
gauge user demonstrated a satisfactory level of knowledge of radiation safety 
requirements and an ability to implement adequate ALARA practices.  This provided 
the inspector with a sufficient basis for confidence to conclude that the gauge user 
can and will safely conduct licensed activities. 

 
Therefore, the licensee’s failure to ensure that the individual completed the Troxler 
nuclear gauge training course (or suitable equivalent which meets the established 
criteria in NUREG-1556 Vol. 1, Rev. 2, Appendix C) is a violation of Condition 11. 

 
The root cause of the violation was a lack of full understanding of the conditions of 
the license.  The RSO believed that the aforementioned MDOT course was sufficient 
to meet radiation safety training requirements for portable gauge users.
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As corrective action, on December 6, 2018, the gauge user completed the Troxler 
nuclear gauge training course.  The licensee also provided hands-on instruction in 
gauge use, as specified by the training course.  The licensee committed to providing 
this training to any new operator in the future, and to evaluate the timely completion 
of required training for all operators during future audits of the radiation safety 
program. 

 
B. Program Oversight 

 
During discussions with the RSO, the inspector learned that between the time the 
RSO assumed the role in June 2015 and the date of this inspection, the licensee had 
not performed a periodic audit of its radiation safety program. 

 
Title 10 CFR 20.1101(c) requires that each licensee shall periodically (at least 
annually) review the radiation protection program content and implementation. 

 
The licensee’s failure to review the radiation protection program at least annually is a 
violation of 10 CFR 20.1101(c). 

 
The root cause of the violation was a lack of full understanding of applicable NRC 
requirements.  As corrective action, on December 3, 2018, the licensee completed 
an audit using the example checklist provided in Appendix E of NUREG-1556 Vol. 1, 
Rev. 2.  The licensee committed to completing future audits along with preparations 
for returning the gauge to an authorized service provider for maintenance, already 
scheduled in the RSO’s calendar to be complete in late fall or early winter. 

 
C. Transportation Requirements 

 
1. Hazmat Training 

 
During a review of training documentation for authorized users, the inspector 
found that neither the RSO nor the gauge user had any record or recollection of 
completing training on U.S. Department of Transportation (USDOT) requirements 
for transportation of hazardous material. 

 
Title 10 CFR 71.5(a) requires that each licensee who transports licensed  
material outside the site of usage, as specified in the NRC license, or where 
transport is on public highways, or who delivers licensed material to a carrier for 
transport, shall comply with the applicable requirements of the DOT regulations 
in 49 CFR Parts 107, 171 through 180, and 390 through 397, appropriate to the 
mode of transport. 

 
Title 49 CFR 172.702 requires that each hazmat employer shall ensure that each 
hazmat employee is trained and tested, and that no hazmat employee performs 
any function subject to the requirements of 49 CFR Parts 171-177 unless trained, 
in accordance with Subpart H of 49 CFR Part 172.  The terms Hazmat Employer 
and Hazmat Employee are defined in 49 CFR 171.8. 

 
The licensee’s failure to provide hazmat training to its gauge users, who have 
transported radioactive materials on public highways, is a violation of  
10 CFR 71.5(a) and 49 CFR 172.702.
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The root cause of the violation was a lack of full understanding of applicable 
USDOT requirements.  As corrective action, on December 6, 2018, the gauge 
user completed the required hazmat training.  The RSO also completed the 
training.  The licensee committed to providing this training to any new operator in 
the future, and to include an evaluation of the timely completion of required 
refresher training for all operators in future annual audits. 
 

2. Shipping Papers 
 

While at the job site in Luzerne, the inspector found that the gauge user did not 
have any shipping papers in his possession to accompany the portable gauge, 
which he had transported that morning.  Moreover, the gauge user was 
unfamiliar with the specific documents that the inspector requested.  The 
inspector asked the RSO about whether the licensee maintained shipping 
papers, specifically a bill of lading.  However, the RSO was only able to locate a 
Type A package certification, special form source certificate, and emergency 
response procedures for the gauge. 

 
Title 10 CFR 71.5(a) requires that each licensee who transports licensed material 
outside the site of usage, as specified in the NRC license, or where transport is 
on public highways, or who delivers licensed material to a carrier for transport, 
shall comply with the applicable requirements of the DOT regulations in 49 CFR 
parts 107, 171 through 180, and 390 through 397, appropriate to the mode of 
transport. 

 
Title 49 CFR 177.817(a) states that a person may not accept a hazardous 
material for transportation or transport a hazardous material by highway unless 
that person has received a shipping paper prepared in accordance with part 172 
of this subchapter, with exceptions not applicable here. 

 
The licensee’s failure to receive a shipping paper prior to transport of a 
hazardous material is a violation of 10 CFR 71.5(a) and 49 CFR 177.817(a). 

 
The root cause of the violation was a lack of full understanding of applicable 
USDOT requirements.  As corrective action, by November 12, 2018, the licensee 
had prepared a set of shipping papers, and had trained the gauge user on the 
contents of those shipping papers, and the need to maintain them in the 
appropriate location when transporting the gauge. 

 
3. Blocking and Bracing of Packages Containing Hazardous Material 

 
While at the job site in Luzerne, the inspector found that the authorized user had 
secured the Type A package containing the licensee’s portable gauge with a 
single chain, around 4 feet long, to an auxiliary fuel tank installed in the bed of his 
truck.  The chain, though locked, hung loosely from the lifting point of the tank to 
which it was secured, and did not secure the package against shifting in any 
direction.  Additional equipment in the bed limited uncontrolled lateral motion 
somewhat; however the package could still shift several inches in that direction 
as well.
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Title 49 CFR Part 177.834(a) states in part that any package containing any 
hazardous material, not permanently attached to a motor vehicle, must be 
secured against shifting, including relative motion between packages, within the 
vehicle on which it is being transported, under conditions normally incident to 
transportation. 

 
The licensee’s failure to secure a package against shifting within the vehicle is a 
violation of 10 CFR 71.5(a) and 49 CFR 177.834(a). 

 
The root cause of the violation was a lack of full understanding of applicable 
USDOT requirements.  As corrective action, by November 20, 2018, the licensee 
had installed a new mounting point in the bed of the truck, and had obtained a 
second locking chain for the gauge case.  The licensee revised its method of 
securing the gauge case in the truck to use the new mounting point, another 
existing mounting point in the back of the bed, and the two chains locked tightly 
to adequately block and brace the package.  The licensee trained the gauge user 
on the new method for blocking and bracing. 

 
The NRC recognized that the three violations of 10 CFR 71.5(a) were closely related 
and shared a common root cause; therefore, all three were cited as one problem. 

 
5. PERSONNEL CONTACTED: 
 

# Steven Defour – RSO 
 Craig Mitchell – Authorized User 

 
#  Attended exit meeting on January 2, 2019.  

 
 

-END- 


	Inspector(s) Ryan Craffey, Health Physicist

